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Overview

In fiscal year 2021/22, the third year in which the University community was
impacted by the global coronavirus pandemic, the University’s priorities were
to sustain academic excellence and fiscal strength while safely restoring full
campus operations. Throughout this challenging year, our staff and students
have shown great resilience and adaptability in confronting these issues and
| want to start by expressing my thanks to them.

Whilst the pandemic has been challenging on every level, it has also proven
that the University is agile and flexible, placing staff and students at the
heart of its decision making. The University invested in various COVID-19-
related initiatives to support staff and students in the provision of teaching
tools, content, learning resources and health and safety. In addition,
it increased financial support for students and offered rental waivers to
caterers. These extra spending and revenue forgone amounted to
HK$24.5 million (2020/21: HK$30.7 million).

Despite the continued impact of COVID-19, the University has managed
to grow tuition income while controlling cost growth. This has resulted in
a consolidated net surplus of HK$213.8 million for 2021/22, which well
exceeded the Approved Budget given the uncertainty created by the
pandemic and the volatility of the global financial markets. Consolidated
net operating cash flow were HK$868.8 million. Consolidated net assets
at the end of the financial year totalled HK$4,594.2 million, an increase
of 4.9% over 2020/21. These results provide a robust, solvent and
sustainable financial position that enables the University to respond to
the challenges ahead.
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Highlights of the Year

To set up for further success, the University continued to make significant
investments in human capital and physical facilities. The University has
launched a number of initiatives under the Quality Enhancement Measures
to strengthen the academic quality and capacity of its faculty. These include
the ‘Global Faculty Recruitment Campaign’ to recruit quality academics from
all over the world, the ‘Central Faculty Fund’ to provide additional funding
to attract such academics, and the ‘Faculty Advancement Fund’ for faculty
members to undertake scholarly activities for a period of up to 12 months.
In addition, to provide more space for academic and student activities,
the University has taken on leasing a 47,250-square-foot office space in a
commercial building for use by the administrative offices, thus alleviating the
shortage of learning and teaching venues on the campuses. The University
is also proactively searching for possible sites for campus expansion and
potential real estate investments for student hostels to meet the ever-growing
need for space and provide students with the resident hall experience.

During the year, the University has established a few subsidiaries to hold
and manage specific activities and resources. These include Hong Kong
Metropolitan University Alumni Association Limited (to consolidate the
University’s effort to reach out to the alumni community and encourage
the alumni to support development of the University), HKMU Research
Development and Consultancy Limited (to promote knowledge transfer and
commercialisation of the University’s technology and intellectual properties),
and HKMU Physiotherapy Centre Limited (to integrate learning and teaching,
clinical practice and the provision of services to the community).

The University has been engaging in the development of the Greater
Bay Area (GBA), and obtained HK$9.3 million funding from the Research
Grants Council to set up the University Research Facilities for Basic and
Applied Research on Coastal Wetlands in the GBA. This project will expand
and strengthen the University’s research capabilities for environmental
monitoring and protection research, and allow the University to contribute to
the coastal wetland research and conservation. Besides, the development
project in relation to Hong Kong Metropolitan University (Zhaoqing) is
still ongoing, and is currently in the planning stage. Application materials
have been submitted to the Ministry of Education pending for approval.
The project will help to nurture talent for the country and Hong Kong and
contribute to the economic and social development of both Mainland China
and Hong Kong.
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Income and Expenditure

The University has delivered satisfactory financial performance for 2021/22
through disciplined strategy execution, despite the challenging market
environment. Consolidated income for the year was HK$1,700.7 million, of
which HK$1,623.6 million was tuition fee income, benefiting from a moderate
growth in student numbers and tuition fee rates. The strong revenue streams
allow the University to generate the cash necessary to deliver its long-term
plans whilst remaining financially resilient.

Operating expenditures have been effectively managed within the Approved
Budget. Total consolidated operating expenses were HK$1,190.2 million in
2021/22. The majority of these expenses (HK$763.2 million) were personnel
costs, which comprised 64.1% (2020/21: 65.8%) of the total operating
expenses as the University continued to invest in staff to support growth
in teaching and research, improve student to staff ratios, and enhance
student support services.

Non-personnel costs fell below the Approved Budget as a result of
reduced travel and campus activities, partly offset by the proportionate
increase in incremental expenses to cope with COVID-19 pandemic,
including the purchase of Rapid Antigen Test kits, personal protective
equipment, and cleaning and sanitation supplies and services for staff
and students. Premise-related expenses were HK$174.1 million, which
accounted for 14.6% (2020/21: 13.8%) of total operating expenses,
largely reflecting higher depreciation from leased assets and increase
in capital spending. Direct student costs and student activity expenses
were HK$108.6 million, representing 9.1% (2020/21: 7.6%) of the total
operating expenses.
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Investment

After pumping trillions of dollars of liquidity into financial markets over the
past 2 years, global central banks have headed toward monetary tightening.
Persistently high inflation, exacerbated by energy-price shocks from the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, spurred global central banks to hike interest rates
more aggressively than anticipated. High inflation and tighter financial
conditions weighed on consumer and business confidence, and their growing
fears contributed to falling financial markets. Most major asset categories
recorded negative performance in 2022, and the University’s investment
portfolio was not immune.

The financial markets were highly volatile this year. Notwithstanding the
market volatility, the University continues to adopt a prudent, risk-focused,
diversified and long-term approach in managing its investments. During
the year, the University had taken tactical actions to reduce exposure to
equities by increasing cash allocation, which minimized the consolidated
net investment loss to HK$269.3 million. Measured over a longer time-frame
of three to five years, stable positive investment returns for supporting core
activities of the University were achieved. Value of the Group’s investment
as of 31 August 2022 was HK$1,970.4 million (2020/21: HK$2,343.2 million).
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Donations and Government Grants

Donations from individuals, corporations, and foundations represent a
vitally important source of funding for the University. In aggregate, a total
of HK$121.9 million in donations and grants was recorded for the year, with
HK$23.7 million reflected as current year grants and donations in support of
operations and an additional HK$98.2 million recorded as deferred income
for funding the University’s long-term investment in physical infrastructure
and providing resources for core activities for future generations. This
included HK$22.0 million in donations from the Hong Kong Jockey Club
Charities Trust for the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare and
STEAM projects. We are immensely grateful to the University’s past and
present donors for their generosity in providing the resources that enable
the University’s mission and its aspirational pursuit of excellence.

Results of the Year

Despite the financial challenges faced across the higher education industry
and wider economy, the overall financial performance of the University was
satisfactory. The University achieved a consolidated net operating surplus
of HK$483.1 million, which is amongst the best in the University’s history.
Consolidated net investment loss was HK$269.3 million, largely attributable
to market volatility driven by high inflation and recession fears. Consolidated
net operating cash flow was a strong HK$868.8 million, and consolidated
net assets increased to HK$4,594.2 million as at 31 August 2022. Cash
and cash equivalents stood at HK$2,648.3 million as at 31 August 2022,
paving the way to meet the investment commitments and new investment
opportunities. These results ensure that the University is financially robust
and able to respond to the challenges ahead, and would not have been
possible without the expertise, commitment, professionalism, hard work
and passion of our staff. | would like to thank them for making the University
such an outstanding place to work and study.
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Way Forward

Initial indications for 2022/23 are positive and reassuring. Student
recruitment has proceeded in line with the University’s plan and the
campus is once again buzzing with activity. The University has the digital
infrastructure now embedded to rapidly change its teaching delivery with
minimal disruption if circumstances change.

Looking ahead, China’s COVID-19 policy, inflationary pressure, tighter
monetary policy in developed economies and the Russia-Ukraine conflict
are all adding to economic concerns over the next 6-12 months. As we move
to a post-pandemic and rapidly changing external world, our prudent and
flexible financial management have given the University the best possible
financial underpinning. The University will continue to manage its sources
of revenue effectively and its costs efficiently in order to generate the long-
term cash flow needed to make investments that further its mission.

Arnold CHENG Ka-kui
Treasurer of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
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To the Council of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
(the “University”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 13 to 87, comprise:

e the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st August 2022;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in fund balances for the year
then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st August
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in Treasurer’s Report and Performance
Indicators, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

009



2021 - 2022 B4#%#RE FINANCIAL REPORT

prg
o

B\ HETR S

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

REGRELZETM
FEMBRRARENTE

EAEREGREERBEE BN LEES
N (EBYBREER) REBEH G KEEHKH
BREBEBMTENGEEMHRES UHERAS
EEGHMBRROE BN FERRIGENER
MERNEARERRAFIBOAEIERH G S

EREGESVBRER EAEREGEENG
EEEFEEENE ) TEERB R T RER
RELEERNER URERFBEEEST
BER REEFEEREERBBNFLEE,
R EEMBERAER SR

BERZESREEEESEENUBREBERE-

Responsibilities of The Council and The Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, and Hong Kong Metropolitan University Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Council determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Council is responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Council either intends to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing financial reporting
process of the Group.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 15 of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Council.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Fvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 15th February, 2023
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

AZEZC T —4
I\B=+—H J\B=+—H
Mzt  At31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
Note $’000 $’000
ERENEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
BEY)E Investment properties 6 130,228 133,809
LY ERY - NG Property, plant and equipment 7 1,913,848 1,926,550
EBEE Intangible assets 8 - _
ERAREE Right-of-use assets 21 118,364 12,638
BB EER Student loan receivables 11 58,518 43,529
B IE R A B RIIR & Financial investments at amortised cost 13 16,909 93,080
2,237,867 2,209,606
mEBEE CURRENT ASSETS
REHMER Stock of course materials 2,650 2,567
FEURBR RN~ EfthFEURBRZ~  Accounts receivable, other receivables,
FENRIBENZE prepayments and deposits 12 143,361 289,626
}%H&E‘iifﬁ% Student loan receivables 11 6,185 7,331
BEBERRMATMEME  Designated financial assets at fair value
BN ESmEE through profit or loss 14 1,948,438 2,243,530
TEERMEE Derivative financial instruments 14 1,251 -
RIBIHR A SRR & Financial investments at amortised cost 13 3,840 6,643
REBHHABBE=EE > Bank deposits with original maturities
RITER over three months 15 590,776 389,418
BENIRSEEY) Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,057,533 1,438,416
4,754,034 4,377,531
Pt I=RE CURRENT LIABILITIES
AR BN E Fee income receipt in advance 16 615,794 592,283
FE(TERFN  FEsTE A Accounts payable, accrued expenses
B and provisions 17 278,293 208,321
IEIEW 3 Deferred income 18 225,653 235,989
B EM SR EREE D Current portion of gratuities provision 19 32,300 24,569
HEEaEREED Current portion of lease liabilities 21 18,746 7,531
TR IEEME Income tax payable 131 100
1,170,917 1,068,793
RENEERE NET CURRENT ASSETS 3,583,117 3,308,738
BEEN TOTAL ASSETS LESS
mENaE CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,820,984 5,518,344
JERENEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HHEMTREE Gratuities provision 19 16,502 19,494
BFEREER Government loans, secured 20 453,700 464,013
HESE Lease liabilities 21 97,581 237
FIEEARE S Deferred capital fund 22 649,472 646,174
RIETRIEE(E Deferred tax liability 23 9,546 8,088
1,226,801 1,138,006
BEESSR TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,594,183 4,380,338
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FaEEAEAER T e
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

= R4
NB=+—H JAB=+—H
Mzt  At31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
Note $°000 $'000
HER REPRESENTED BY
HEH#EE FUNDS AND RESERVES 5 4,594,183 4,380,338

REGHR_E-"_F+-B—HZEIGEaUBERS
Approved by the Council on 1st December 2022

BREITE e HuR HERRE
Mr Arnold CHENG Ka-kui Professor Paul LAM Kwan-sing Mr Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

B[ RE 75488
Treasurer President Director of Finance
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EIE

EEW
BHEW
el
FEIRW

HmEEW

EERX

A%
RZHM
BN A
EERBEMA
Sl
—MHRFX

THRX
BB A
—HRFIX
TEER

HEERX
EERH
AR R B &= HBNAY
Hith;E8h
WA
sz

TR Bl Bh & HBNRY
Hfth/ZBhRIR

AT B Rig E Wz

MEBERZRE

BB NKRE (BE) / W

B
PRIGAIRER
PRSI

FAREF

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
OPERATING INCOME

Tuition fee income

Consultancy fee income
Miscellaneous income
Total operating income

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Academic expenditure

Course materials
Tutors’ costs

Direct student costs
Staff costs

General expenses

Administrative expenditure

Staff costs
General expenses
Depreciation charge

Total operating expenditure

OPERATING RESULT

OTHER ACTIVITIES FUNDED BY
DONATIONS AND GRANTS

Income
Expenditure

RESULT OF OTHER ACTIVITIES FUNDED
BY DONATIONS AND GRANTS

NET RESULT BEFORE INTEREST
AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND

FINANCE COST

Net interest and investment (loss)/income
Finance cost
SURPLUS BEFORE INCOME TAX
Income tax expense

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

FdEE
Note

25

25

26
26

33
21

34

BETT__F)/)\B=t—HLFE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2022
Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

LB TS

BE—T——F HEZZ - —F
J\B=+—H JA\B=+—H
o355 IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000
1,623,561 1,442,410
31,043 29,046
46,052 67,154
1,700,656 1,538,610
(16,734) (19,718)
(42,790) (42,608)
(63,645) (41,231)
(445,588) (430,605)
(11,161) (9,235)
(579,918) (543,397)
(268,484) (255,152)
(255,929) (239,203)
(85,901) (77,145)
(610,314) (571,500)
(1,190,232) (1,114,897)
510,424 423,713
125,020 137,074
(136,932) (149,091)
(11,912) (12,017)
498,512 411,696
(269,287) 246,352
(852) (454)
228,373 657,594
(8,276) (9,043)
220,097 648,551
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CO NSO LI DATE D STATE M E NT OF FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 21022
COM PREH E NSIVE INCOM E Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BE—T-—fF HEZZ"—F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
IESFRE IHFE
Year ended Year ended
M5 31st August 2022 31st August 2021
Note $°000 $°000
Hittsz& (B518) / OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/
W2z INCOME
[tems that may be reclassified to
AEMNEEEm 2B profit or loss
I'Eﬁ%%’ﬁ Currency translation differences 5 (6,252) 4,318
FRESINELETE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 213,845 652,869
SECE ALLOCATED TO:
HHEE Specific funds (41,836) 4,325
— % R B S General and exchange reserves 255,681 648,544
213,845 652,869
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NIETT4E
NB—HZ &g

FERERR
Hhraam

EBINFREMBRE
FREEZERZTR

FEREEW AR

B2 —%
INB=1+—HzZ4&8%

KT —F
NB—BZ 48R

FR (B1R) / BEF
Hithirams1a
TEEINFREMBHRE
FRE4 2 FERZ%8

Fire (B8 /W
“azm

B 7 SRR

s
[N — ——

NRA=+—HZ&ER%

GEERRENR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Balance as at 1st September 2020

Surplus for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange difference arising from translation of
a foreign subsidiary’s financial statements

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 31st August 2021

Balance as at 1st September 2021

(Deficit)/surplus for the year

Other comprehensive loss:
Exchange difference arising from translation of
a foreign subsidiary’s financial statements

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year

Reallocation of funds

Balance as at 31st August 2022

B2 N FEE 2 EBEIIINEES o

Details of movements in funds and reserves are set out in note 5.

BE_T__F)\A=1t—HILFE
LGB R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2022
Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

—RE R

EERHE

HRAEE  General and
Specific exchange 4B%E
funds reserves Total
$°000 $’000 $’000
321,641 3,405,828 3,727,469
4,325 644,226 648,551
- 4,318 4,318
- 4318 4,318
4,325 648,544 652,869
325,966 4,054,372 4,380,338
325,966 4,054,372 4,380,338
(41,836) 261,933 220,097
- (6,252) (6,252)
- (6,252) (6,252)
(41,836) 255,681 213,845
17,395 (17,395) -
301,525 4,292,658 4,594,183
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BE_T__F)\A=1t—HILFE
LGB R

nv'.F = Eﬁﬁlllb ﬁ
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2022
Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

gE—T—— EZT
NB=+—H J\B=+—H
IEFE IFEFE
Year ended Year ended
M5 31st August 2022 31st August 2021
Note $’000 $'000
FRBEFTHZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
EEBEEZRE Cash generated from operations 37 875,600 534,182
BB Overseas tax paid (6,788) (6,631)
EBTHEEZFIRS Net cash generated from operating
activities 868,812 527,551
REREEEZIAEFE  Cash flows from investing activities
BUFR Interest received 9,607 9,009
BB ER & Investment income received 66,673 138,057
ENESEENREEER Fund management and custody fees paid (6,006) (5,720)
TESZTLL%D%E%E&E% Funds placed in designated financial
NEEZCNEEEE assets at fair value through profit
MEENEE or loss (60,738) (148,308)
ﬁHﬂELLEmﬁE&E% Funds withdrawn from designated
NEEZCNEEEE financial assets at fair value through
REENES profit or loss 62 56
ENEIENEHES Proceeds from matured and disposed
BB IHR AN RIS E financial investments at amortised cost 84,470 25
YN E R - YN E T Purchases of property, plant and equipment (110,858) (146,873)
HEYEE S5 Sale proceeds from disposal of
Fri8=R property, plant and equipment 30 66
ERFELEZER Student loans granted to students (15,476) (17,331)
ﬁﬁifé%ﬁzgﬁ Student loans repaid by students 1,619 1,518
FHRBB=ERA2 Increase in bank deposits with original
fEﬁ?“ FI 0 maturities over three months (201,359) (87,513)
REZHHAZIRE Net cash used in investing activities (231,886) (256,114)
FREMEESZIRERE Cash flows from financing activities
HEEm Lease payments
- REE S - Principal elements (11,070) (8,347)
- FIEEBS - Interest elements 21 (852) (454)
Interest-free loan received from
BRI T 2 B B the Government 37 - 14,400
RMEES (B1R) | EXZ Net cash (used in)/generated from
BRE financing activities (11,922 5,599
RERIREZLEYRFEES Net changes in cash and cash equivalents 625,004 277,036
hB—BZRERRAE Cash and cash equivalents at
EEMER 1st September 1,438,416 1,157,520
EERNEMER Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (5,887) 3,860
BIN\NB=+—BZHER Cash and cash equivalents at
REFEMER 31st August 15 2,057,533 1,438,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

—gEE

BBEHGRE (K2 K—N/\NFRA
T+ HBREEBLFEESRES (1989)
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1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

General information

Hong Kong Metropolitan University, “the University”, was established
as a body corporate on 25th May 1989 under The Open Learning
Institute of Hong Kong Ordinance 1989 for the provision of
opportunities for higher education in Hong Kong by means of open
learning and thereby to advance learning and knowledge, and to
enhance economic and social development in Hong Kong.

Under the Memorandum of Administration Arrangements which
provides the framework for the operational relationship between the
Government and the University, the Government met the setting up
and capital costs of the University by giving a grant in each financial
year up to 1992/1993. Starting from 1993/1994, the University became
self-financing.

Upon the third review of the Institute by Hong Kong Council for
Academic Accreditation (“HKCAA”) in June 1995 and the successful
transfer of accrediting role from HKCAA, the Government confirmed
the Institute’s self-accrediting status to validate its own degree
programmes in October 1996.

On 30th May 1997, the Institute was upgraded to a university following
The Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong (Amendment) Ordinance 1997
passed by the Legislative Council on 21st May 1997. The Open Learning
Institute of Hong Kong Ordinance 1989 and The Open Learning Institute
of Hong Kong (Amendment) Ordinance 1997 had been repealed and
superseded by The Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance.

On 1st September 2021, The Open University of Hong Kong
(Amendment) Bill 2021 was passed by the Legislative Council. The
Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance had been amended as Hong
Kong Metropolitan University Ordinance. Pursuant to the Ordinance,
the name of the University was changed from “The Open University of
Hong Kong” to “Hong Kong Metropolitan University” with effect from
1st September 2021.

The principal activities of the University’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The University and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The address of its registered office is 30 Good Shepherd Street,
Homantin, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of HK dollars ($'000), unless otherwise stated.

019



0

N
o

2021 - 2022 B4#%#RE FINANCIAL REPORT

4RE SRR M T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21

FEGBRBME

TEHINHHERAGEMBREFERANE
BEHBR - RAERA REMBRERD
BV BFEENERERAE LRI -

B

FEEUHREZRBAERBNERES
SHEINE (BN AE) BHNEBYBR
SEAMNEBGAERERE (RBES
MHRELER]) BIRTE - AGEEMBRE D
BRERETHR  EEBREaRRBRAF
BEZTNREEREENTESRITA
RAATESE

BRMBHRESERNER ERRAGEYH
RERBEREHETEEZNGSHLE AR
EEEERAREEN G BRENEF
i FI B o B EEAS) R TS RS FIE B AE
B RATENES RSB RREEEY
2o o

FEBER_T_—FNB—HIZE&HE
BYRS B S R ER A RSB ST 2 2281

ERAMBREER  FIEREENSEFET
B BEY P ER
HAERIZE395%
SR IEREE
BT FH
MR SR E
AR B BT
REZERIFE165%
BEET

ERMBREEL  2021FE68530HZ
F165RAVIEET % HI20193 Y

BkEEEE
BT SRR

21

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the financial years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKAS”) and interpretations
(collectively HKFRS) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of designated
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
instruments, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1st
September 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19- Related Rent
Concessions beyond

30 June 2021
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Apart from the above, no other amendments that are mandatory for
the financial year commencing on 1st September 2021 are relevant and
applicable to the Group.

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1st
September 2022 and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. None of these are expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, except the following set out below:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as 1st January 2023
HKAS 1 Current or Non-Current
Amendments to Property, Plant 1st January 2022
HKAS 16 and Equipment:
Proceeds before
Intended Use
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual 1st January 2022
HKFRS 3 Framework
Annual improvements Annual improvements to 1st January 2022

HKFRSs 2018 — 2020
cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Filfilling a Contract

1st January 2022

AG 5 (revised)

Merger Accounting
for Common Control
Combinations

1st January 2022

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1st January 2023

Amendments to Disclosure of 1st January 2023
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Accounting Policy
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting 1st January 2023
HKAS 8 Estimates

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets 1st January 2023

HKAS 12

and Liabilties arising from a
Single Transaction
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

HK Int 5 (2020) Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains
a Repayment on

Demand Clause

1st January 2023

The Group will apply the new standard, amendments to standards
and interpretations in the year of initial application. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the adoption of the new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretations and is not yet in a
position to state whether they would have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.

Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

Intra-group  transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date through surplus or deficit.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to
be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
either in surplus or deficit or as a change to other comprehensive
income/(loss). Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Costisadjustedtoreflect changesin consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the
University on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in a subsidiary is required upon
receiving dividends from the investment if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as
investment property.

Investment property is carried at cost, including related transaction
costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the investment properties over their estimated useful lives
of 50 years. Where the carrying amount of an investment property
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in surplus or deficit during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Construction in progress is stated at cost which includes development
and construction expenditure and other direct costs attributable to
the development less any accumulated impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated accordingly, upon completion and/or receipt of the
occupation permit issued by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”) Government, where applicable.
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified as
finance lease

Remaining lease period

Buildings 20 - 50 years or lease period,

whichever is shorter

Renovation costs 5 years or period of tenancy

agreement whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 3 -5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets - computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and any directly attributable cost of preparing the
asset for its intended use. The intangible assets are initially recognised
at costs less impairment losses and are amortised upon completion of
the user-acceptance test.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets — computer software (continued)

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software
product include costs of employee benefits and professional fees
arising directly from bringing the asset to its working condition.

Computer software recognised as assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of three years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Financial assets
2.6.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial investments and other financial assets
either those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit
or loss, or those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial
investments and other financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. They are included in current
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.

G

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial
assets which are managed in accordance with internal documented
risk management guidelines or investment strategy provided by
the Group’s key management personnel. Assets in this category
are stated at fair value and classified as current assets.
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
2.6.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are
expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value.

2.6.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the University, its subsidiaries
or the counterparty.

Stock of course materials

Stock of course materials are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses
or value in use, wherever appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.
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2.9

2.10

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Receivables

Receivables include tuition fee receivables, student loan receivables
and other receivables incurred under the ordinary course of business.
If collection of receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.

The Group measures the expected credit losses using a lifetime
expected loss allowance for tuition fee receivables and student loan
receivables. For other receivables, the Group measures the expected
credit losses using 12 months expected loss allowance. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical observed default rates adjusted
for forward-looking estimates.

Impairment losses on receivables are recognised within operating
result. Receivables are written off (either partially or in full) when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets
not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting year whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For accounts receivable and student loan receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost other than
accounts receivable and student loan receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a financial
asset measured at amortised cost other than accounts receivable and
student loan receivables has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the receivables are
not settled in accordance with the terms stipulated in the agreements,
management considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery, the financial assets measured at amortised cost will be
written off.
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer or student, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer or student
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide
services to the customer or student. The contract is a liability and
recognised as fee income receipt in advance if the measure of
the remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure of
the remaining rights. The Group recognises the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract with a customer or student within contract
assets if the Group expects to recover those costs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. No provision
will be made for future anticipated operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlements is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Payables

Accounts payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business. Payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans from the HKSAR Government

Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Loans are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the
redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the loans using the effective
interest method.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15 Loans from the HKSAR Government (continued)

Loans are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the balance sheet date.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

2.16 Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. A contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset if the customer has both the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from using the identified asset and the
right to direct the use of the identified asset.

As a lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (including
within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and
buildings” in the consolidated balance sheet) and a lease liability at
the lease commencement date, except for leases with a lease term of
12 months or less which are recognised as expenses on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(@) Right-of-use assets

At inception, the right-of-use asset comprises the initial lease
liability, initial direct costs and the obligation to restore the asset,
less any incentive granted by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the lease term of the underlying asset. The right-
of-use asset is subject to impairment review whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.16 Leases (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future
lease payments with reference to an expected lease term, which
includes optional lease periods when the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to extend or not to terminate the
lease. Future lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if this cannot be readily determined, an
incremental borrowing rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset. The lease liability
is subsequently measured by increasing its carrying amount to
reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest
rate method) and by reducing its carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made. The lease liability is remeasured
(with a corresponding adjustment made to the related right-of-
use asset) when there is a change in future lease payments in
case of renegotiation, changes of an index or rate or in case of
reassessment of options.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred income
tax. Tax is recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income.

(@ Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

033



2021 - 2022 B4#%#RE FINANCIAL REPORT

o
W
'

nv'.F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

2.18

B IER R M T

FEFHHEHRE (B)
Wy D

BEWmNAE / RERBPALUERE
SCARMESD

HERDORERRE R ARHFBE
EXES  NIRHRFRRESD

B WA IRH AR R T -

F B F LA B AR B RE EE ) R AR

KEHRENESWAREERAUERE
SCARMESD

% S e U R B RO B RE B BT ©

METAW A IZFE St B A SCIRFERD

UTHERTRENEEZRKEE DA
EEUWRADN

HE_ZT__&F
NB=1+—HIFE
$'000

BUBERENREE

BHIWE

AR —BFE 77,095
E—EREA 1,623,561
1,700,656
Hh A R 125,020
1,825,676
HE_Z_—&F
NB=1+—HIFE
$'000

BUBERENREE

BN

EXE—BFE 96,200
E—EREA 1,442,410
1,538,610
HAih AR & 137,074
1,675,684

2.

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Income recognition

Student fee income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the courses/programmes to which it relates.

Miscellaneous fees consist of application fee, advance standing claim
fee, graduation fee, etc.; and are recognised when services are rendered.

Consultancy fee income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease period.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment
is established.

Miscellaneous income is recognised on an accruals basis.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations:

Year ended
31st August 2022
$'000

Revenue from contracts with

customers and students

At a point in time 77,095
Over time 1,623,561
1,700,656
Revenue from other sources 125,020
1,825,676
Year ended
31st August 2021
$'000

Revenue from contracts with

customers and students

At a point in time 96,200
Over time 1,442,410
1,638,610
Revenue from other sources 137,074
1,675,684
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2. FEFHHEHE (B) 2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

219 ERES - IREEHRESRHEMWSHAES 2.19 Capital fund, deferred capital fund and other specific funds

RIUIBRED  DURBERBFRBENRSE
YME RBERRBNES - BXESTAMF
HIAER B EE I E A E AT E
BREYE HEkREHELETRE -

BRUBIEEAES  URBMEAEEEY
BIEYZE AR R E PR B RRAN R o
ZEZEWES S W IR AERN E E
EHEAMRERAFHANITESENEY R
HE MR mIRERLE -

HthEREEMNHIERATXHERYN
mE MRE R BEENEE AR
B -ETREENEYEE - KERE B
MRS ZSRMAERELER BEHEH
EEEERPH-

2.20 5h57 4808

—RRIB BN KB A FE SR T & PI W IR TR B
EfF ek

BUEIEW Z BE R R E R (PR EtsE
219 RIFRE B SRR - B B
BUIRRE  (FREEBEARE RSN EIFIEIE
msCHR > WA LA AERE R ST EC BV AP - HEST

Fic ¥ 8 Bh = 7E I 2 300 A% & R B BT B R
B FE ST A U A o

ERENSEMREEEGT S MH GRS
Rz i BT B B BT B9 4 Bh s X B B B
ZHBE kB (Ff LitkisE2. 1955 R
TERERREYR  HBRREBOVERO
FRIEEERESIN »ERALKEEZ
B m EFEEWRmCIR WAEHRZ
ENERBEZNAEHHRRERR
WA

The capital fund is set up to reflect funds of the Group allocated for
the purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment. They
are released to match with depreciation of related assets over their
useful lives or upon disposal of property, plant and equipment.

The deferred capital fund is set up to reflect grants and donations
earmarked for the purchase or construction of property, plant and
equipment. The fund will be recognised as income to match with the
depreciation charge of the related assets over their useful lives or
upon disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Other specific funds are set up to support the Group’s activities such
as course development, student loan scheme, research projects,
scholarships and bursaries to students, building maintenance,
IT development, etc. They are released when the related expenses
are incurred.

2.20 Donations and benefactions

General donations and benefactions are recognised as income when
right to receive has been established.

Specific donations and benefactions received or receivable (other
than for purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment
which are dealt with as deferred capital fund in note 2.19 above) are
initially recorded as deferred income and recognised as income over
the periods to match with the related expenditure.

Matching grants are recognised as income when grants have been
received or are receivable from the Government.

Other government grant or sponsorship (other than for purchase or
construction of property, plant and equipment which are dealt with
as deferred capital fund in note 2.19 above), together with the interest
income arising therefrom, is recorded as deferred income, when
there is a reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching with it and that the grant or the sponsorship will
be received. They are recognised as income over the period to match
with the costs they are intended to compensate.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.21 Foreign currency translation

@

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the University's functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
recognised in surplus or deficit as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate of the balance sheet date;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

(i

=

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income/(loss).
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitiements

=

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for unutilised annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlement to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement scheme obligations

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes in Hong Kong are expensed as incurred.

The Group contributes to an employee retirement scheme
established by municipal government in respect of a subsidiary
in the PRC. The municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of this subsidiary. Contributions to this scheme are
expensed as incurred.
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2.

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred, except
to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

2.24 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management
Financial risk factors

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities mainly in connection with
investment in securities, certain of which the currencies are not
the Group entities’ functional currencies.

The majority of them are denominated in US dollars (“USD”).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance
sheet date to reasonable possible changes in the foreign currency
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, on the
Group’s surplus/deficit after income tax. 1% is the sensitivity rate

#1%-° that represents management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
Shig SMEER A (FE) HERRRR BEZEE
Foreign Currency Increase/(decrease) in exchange rate Effect on surplus/deficit for the year
$'000
ot St 3
J\B=+—H
31st August 2022
=7 16,435
usD (16,435)
—E"—
NB=+—H
31st August 2021
E7T 17,749
usSD (17,749)
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3.

3.1

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt securities price
risk because investments held by the Group are classified as
designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group’s investment policy is to prudently invest all funds
managed by the Group in a manner which will satisfy liquidity
requirements, safeguard financial assets and manage risks while
optimising return on investments.

Investment and fund management is governed by investment
policies and risk management guidelines approved by the Council.
Investment restrictions and guidelines form an integral part of risk
control. Specific restrictions and guidelines are set for each fund
in accordance with its investment objectives. In addition, specific
limits are set for each fund to control risks (e.g. permissible
asset type, asset allocation, liquidity, credit, counterparty
concentration, maturity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks)
of the investments.

The Group has a Finance Committee which monitors the
risk and performance of its investments while external fund
managers have also been appointed to manage the investment
funds. The external fund managers are stable and financially
strong financial institutions.
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3. MBEKRREZLSEREIE (8 3. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
3.1 BFERAMBEE (8) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) BEEERR (&) (b) Price risk (continued)
TRETRERGER FF5MNES The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to range from
HNEEEESEAFEAHE0.78%E 0.78% to 1.15% (2021: 0.73% to 1.12%) increase/decrease in the
115% (CE-"—F:0.73% = 1.12%) fair values of the equity and debt securities with all other variables
SR E > gl @ EMREE R E L0k held constant, based on their carrying amounts at the balance
RIEF & o sheet date.
HErRER/
BiEZEE

Effect on surplus/
deficit for the year

$'000

—EZCH

NB=+—H
31st August 2022
EBEMEENERIZBEREEX Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with

EF078% E 1.15% applicable rates ranging from 0.78% to 1.15% 16,625
FBEMEENERIZBRILEX Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with

TB0.78% E1.15% applicable rates ranging from 0.78% to 1.15% (16,625)
—E—F§

NB=+—H
31st August 2021
FBEMESNERZBRALLE Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with

EFFH073% E112% applicable rates ranging from 0.73% to 1.12% 20,360
BEMESENERIGBERILEX Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with

T 0.73% E 1.12% applicable rates ranging from 0.73% to 1.12% (20,360)
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3.

3.1

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its deposits with

banks and investment managers, financial assets at amortised
cost, student loan receivables and accounts and other receivables.

At the balance sheet date, there was no concentration of credit

risk. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amounts of cash deposits with banks, financial

assets at amortised cost, student loan receivables and accounts

and other receivables.

The Group has policies in place for the control and monitoring its
credit risk. Fee income primarily has to be received in advance
before service is rendered. Deposits are placed with banks and
investment managers which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. Follow-up action is taken in case of overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount
of receivables individually to identify any irrecoverable amounts to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for them.

2

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet
liabilities and/or financial commitments as they fall due, and it
results from the amount and maturity mismatch of assets and
liabilities.

The Group has prudent liquidity risk management policy in place
by maintaining sufficient cash and short-term bank deposits
and keeping investments sufficiently liquid to meet the operating
needs. The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to
manage liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of cash required
and monitoring the working capital of the Group to ensure that
all liabilities due and known funding requirements could be met.
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3.1

MBRARRETRABERE (8)

MERAKEZE (8)

d) wBEERR (8)
TREBMIBADTEEN SR
BE UREBEREFEBNGHRMEIR
FIEEE

-

NB=+—H 31st August 2022

BN BIRHRER Government loans, secured

HEaRE Lease liabilities

FE(TBRF A Accounts payables and

lict=tz= accrued expenses

-5

NB=+—H 31st August 2021

BB ER Government loans, secured

HEaRE Lease liabilities

FE(SBRFR K Accounts payables and

fEstE R accrued expenses

3.1

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

—ER —FERF hFR “azt
Within 1 year 1to5years After5years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

- 175,100 351,700 526,800

20,791 103,253 - 124,044
242,001 - - 242,001
262,792 278,353 351,700 892,845
- 246,800 280,000 526,800

7,670 239 - 7,909
172,327 - - 172,327
179,997 247,039 280,000 707,036
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3. MERAKBKREFRAKREIE (B) 3. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
3.1 BFERAMBEE (8) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(e) BEMEBRATFEFERRR (e) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
’;ﬁ@jﬁﬁﬁﬁ ExmeaE £BRE The Group has no interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group
REMATENEZRRTEHRES N is exposed to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk through
HeE@BYhEsEEWESREEN the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing financial assets,
RGBT EE A o mainly the cash and cash equivalents and debt securities.
TRETEERRERRG | BEINESE The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance
HHEAXoJEEN S B BNBEE sheet date to reasonable possible changes in the interest rates,
BIIEERHMEREARE - with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s surplus/

deficit after income tax.

HERNERER/
FEEFA | (FE) BHRZEE
SRITERR « BHIRE - HENRAEEEY CUIFREERT) Increase/(decrease) Effect on surplus/
Bank deposits, investment in bonds and cash and cash equivalents in exchange rate deficit for the year
in different currencies % $’000
NB=+—H
31st August 2022
T 1 19,914
HKD (1) (19,914)
JEETT 1 2,860
Non-HKD 1) (2,860)
aast 1 22,774
Total (1) (22,774)
—E—fF
NB=+—H
31st August 2021
e 1 15,208
HKD (1) (15,208)
IEETT 1 1,931
Non-HKD (1) (1,931)
Mast 1 17,139
Total (1) (17,139)
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3.

3.2

3.3

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
sufficient funding to support the existing operations and to maintain a
strong capital base for future development of its business.

The Group’s management actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to ensure an optimal capital structure, taking
into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and
capital efficiency, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditure and projected strategic investment opportunities.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value,
by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).

e |nputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e |nputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

HEREREEEEEIE (B 3. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

[F{EEE (8)

TREAEER"Z__F/\A=1t—HX
“E—F/)\B=1+—BUAFEEFEN

BEMEE:
NB=+—H As at 31st August 2022
ﬁé Assets
BB RN ATEE  Designated financial assets at fair value
BN EHEE through profit or loss
JELEMRE Unlisted investments
- BEEEE - Unit trusts
-EEWEEE - Fixed income funds
- RS 2 TR - Deposits at financial institutions
-1&%5 - Bonds
EhkE Listed investments
TESmMEE Derivative financial instruments
- SNEIREASAY - Foreign exchange forward contracts
HEEE Total assets
BT —f
NB=+—H As at 31st August 2021
ﬁE Assets
BIBEHERNMATEE  Designated financial assets at fair value
BN EMEE through profit or loss
JEETHEE Unlisted investments
- BuEsEE - Unit trusts
-EEWmES - Fixed income funds
- LRI TER - Deposits at financial institutions
W& Listed investments
HEEE Total assets

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value at 31st August 2022 and 2021:

H—IE BB B=B HeH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
859,145 - - 859,145
955,467 - - 955,467
SIS - - 57,373
76,045 - - 76,045
408 - - 408

- 1,251 - 1,251
1,948,438 1,251 - 1,949,689
1,088,216 - - 1,088,216
1,138,634 - - 1,138,634
16,332 - - 16,332
348 - - 348
2,243,530 - - 2,243,530
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3.

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included
in level 2.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
to the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

@)

Separation of prepayment of lease premium from property, plant
and equipment:

The valuation of prepayment of lease premium has been performed
by an external valuer by valuing the depreciated replacement cost
of the buildings and then deducting the depreciated replacement
cost of the buildings from the initial consideration paid for the
leasehold land and the building in the People’s Republic of China.

(b) Estimated impairment of receivables:

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. Provisions are
applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification
of impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will have impact on the carrying value of
receivables and impairment of receivables is recognised in the year
in which such estimates have been changed.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and investment properties:

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
for the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and investment properties with reference to the
estimated lease period of the leasehold land, expected technical or
commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements
in the market and that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets. Management will revise the
depreciation and amortisation charges where useful lives are different
to previously estimated, or it will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and
therefore depreciation/amortisation expense in future years.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.

HEB#MEE Funds and reserves

HEHEE

—RRERGEE

Sh5REEED

RERERE

EERBEE N

—RR
FRRER
EE R

Specific Funds

General Development
Reserve

Student Loan Fund

Donations and
Benefactions

Building Related
Facilities Sinking
Fund

Capital Fund

Statutory Reserve
Fund /

General Reserve
Surplus for the year
Exchange Reserve

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

FEREE
Movements for the year

rH B

FREEH

HWRFIEEZ

ERELH

Exchange

difference

arising from

St b WA EE:hEEs translation gt
hB—H WA B 3z ZEHSAE  of aforeign INB=+—H
ZEEER Income/ Reallocation  subsidiary’s ZEEER
Asat expenditure of funds financial As at
1st September 2021 recognition and reserves statements 31st August 2022
$°'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
102,017 (19,412) 17,395 - 100,000
170,878 (16,474) - - 154,404
36,524 (4,944) = - 31,580
18,374 - - - 13,374
2,698 (1,006) - - 1,692
475 - - - 475
325,966 (41,836) 17,395 - 301,525
4,046,718 261,933 (17,395) - 4,291,256
220,097

7,654 - - (6,252) 1,402
4,380,338 220,097 - (6,252) 4,594,183

NRBRBIGRG  RJIEBREFGEFNENBDZ T FEAZEFEES BEERBESEIZMBRANENZA TR EF
IR EERHBES
Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund. Appropriation
to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered share capital.

BHECZEZ—F+_A=1+—H FIBRNECHEESDEINZMRANBEDZH+ - Ak FYNHAHZZZ ZFiE
ERENKEHRABEFIEIIFEERES -
As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital. As a result,
there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.
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B IER R M T

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.

BEB#E&ES® (B) Funds and reserves (continued)

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

EREH
Movements for the year
rH B
FREEH
HWRFIEEZ
ERELH
Exchange
difference
arising from
IZECT W24 EEkf#fEE  translation RS- —%
hB—H U A B3z i ZEHSE  of aforeign J\B=+—H
ZHEER Income/ Reallocation  subsidiary’s ZEEER
Asat expenditure of funds financial As at
1st September 2020 recognition and reserves statements 31st August 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
EHES Specific Funds
General Development
—REBREE Reserve 104,279 (2,262) - - 102,017
SLEEHESE  Student Loan Fund 166,317 4,561 - - 170,878
Donations and
INFRIBER Benefactions 33,492 3,032 - - 36,524
Building Related
RIEBIHEHE Facilities Sinking
KBREE Fund 13,374 - - - 13,374
BEAREE Capital Fund 3,704 (1,006) - - 2,698
Statutory Reserve
EEREREESY  Fund’ 475 - - - 475
321,641 4,325 - - 325,966
—RgfEE General Reserve 3,402,492 644,226 - - 4,046,718
FRREG Surplus for the year 648,551
EERfHE Exchange Reserve 3,336 - - 4,318 7,654
3,727,469 648,551 - 4,318 4,380,338

NRBRBIGRG  RIIEBREFEFNENBDZ T FEAZEFEES BEERBESEIZMRANENZA TR EH
IR EERHBES
Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund. Appropriation
to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered share capital.

WE-TT—5+-A=+—B RYBANEERERSEENERRANESZE+ - Bl BYBAR-ST_5
B AT AR P8 BRI A

As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital. As a result,
there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.
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B IER R M T

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

6. IZEWYE Investment properties
)t e ST
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $000
s Cost

KEN) 2 456 At beginning of the financial year 168,249 167,649
PE 7 A 2L Exchange adjustment (568) 600
NERZ 48R At end of the financial year 167,681 168,249

ZHinE Accumulated depreciation
RENZ iE6R At beginning of the financial year 34,440 30,403
FRIFEEHR Depreciation for the year 3,533 3,528
(E AL Exchange adjustment (520) 509
TERZ 458 At end of the financial year 37,453 34,440

Net book value at end of the

HERZIREFE financial year 130,228 133,809

N2 Z_HF)N\B=4—0 RIFHARKPEANEENENLNTFEERTEET=8nTx (T2 _—
Jttuﬂ'r’fma{ézEB—FEEZ%_T%%E’J%E VBl —KATEHERER B R AT AT IR EEEREEME
EREBRERZE__F/)\A=+—B2 T a2

The fair value of the investment properties in PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2022 was $7,439,000 (2021: $7,411,000),
representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on an open market
value basis. Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2022 of the corresponding land use right are disclosed in note 21.

FtEE+—8—Tn) °
ThE - RARRRY 3 A

KNEZZFENA=+—B AEREEBNREMENLRFEEAZRATET (T2 T—F: {‘%
ER—EEIEENHERE—XFITTEEBBAERAS U MG EEEAEEMETHE

The fair value of the investment properties of the University in Hong Kong at 31st August 2022 was $260,000,000 (2021:
$266,000,000) representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on
an open market value basis.

TREET @ MFEEE

RIZE_ZF)\B=+—8 > REKEENRENENREDFER—E
BRFIRREBEIITREBNNREENR

As at 31st August 2022, the investment properties of the University in Hong Kong of the net book value of $129,440,000
(2021: $132,610,000) has been pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.

“ThEm+OER (CE—F =T AT —8%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED o
FI NANCIAL STATEM ENTS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

7.

M3 R Property, plant and equipment

AE LR fRE &8
BEY K5 iE
Leasehold SRS FEIR Furniture, EHil
land and Renovation Constructionin fixtures and Motor 4H%E
buildings costs progress  equipment  vehicles Total
$000 $000 $°000 $'000 $000 $000
573 Cost
B %
NEBE—HZ#8R At 1st September 2021 2,279,860 222,877 6,191 317,311 1,505 2,827,834
NE Additions 22,532 48,465 14,728 24,812 321 110,858
Transfer from Construction
WEERETRE in progress - 1,183 (2,819) 1,636 - -
HE /s Disposal/write-off - (98) - (11,600) - (11,698)
R Exchange adjustment (50) - - (130) - (180)
S =
JNB=+—Hz
e At 31st August 2022 2,302,342 272,427 18,100 332,029 1,916 2,926,814
BiHRE Accumulated depreciation
A
NB—HZ 48k At 1st September 2021 496,414 184,279 - 219,792 799 901,284
EEA (ffista) Depreciation (Note a) 65,964 20,290 - 36,983 267 123,504
HE /s Disposal/write-off - (98) - (11,580) - (11,678)
ER AR Exchange adjustment (39) - - (105) - (144)
A ——
INB=+—HBz
iEER At 31st August 2022 562,339 204,471 - 245,000 1,066 1,012,966
A —
J\B=+—H  Net book value at
ZEREVFE 31st August 2022 1,740,003 67,956 18,100 86,939 850 1,913,848
=¥ Note

(@) FRITEEMASTA:

Depreciation for the year was charged against:

$'000

7RI Administrative expenditure 68,662
Hi’gE) Other activities 54,842
123,504

BIME RBRRERNZIN A THEI M NEEY NERREEQREUNNEESRO BN\ ET B2 EEHEAN
(rﬁéli%z-%iq:/m ) MRS T AN 2 - _F/)\ A=+ —HZEREFEARNESAE At tE8T (22 °—F 1 OE
—FAREAETREET °
Right-of-use asset included within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and buildings” includes the leasehold
land of Kwai Hing Learning Centre at 8th to 11th floor of Kowloon Commerce Centre Il (“Kwai Hing Learning Centre”).
As at 31st August 2022, the net book value was estimated to be $405,670,000 (2021: $426,550,000).

K_E__HFN\A=1—H  ZEHERONEREFEAEE—TCEZOE D ERFEREEFITHEREBINNEEEN
As at 31st August 2022, Kwai Hing Learning Centre amounting to the net book value of $517,040,000 has been pledged
to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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B HRRMIGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Y33 /R (8) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

AE LR fRE &8
BEY K5 iE
Leasehold SRS FEIR Furniture, EHil
landand Renovation Constructionin fixtures and Motor 4H%E
buildings costs progress equipment  vehicles Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ﬁﬁzls Cost
K2 F
h)ﬂ HZ #58% At 1st September 2020 1,583,027 210,159 641,723 238,674 1,505 2,675,178
=1 Additions 63,378 12,745 5,791 77,517 - 159,431
Transfer from Construction
WEERETRE in progress 633,403 - (641,323) 7,920 - -
HE /s Disposal/write-off - (27) - (6,937) - (6,964)
PE R AR Exchange adjustment 52 - = 137 = 189
S
JNB=+—Hz
“EER At 31st August 2021 2,279,860 222,877 6,191 317,311 1,505 2,827,834
BHRE Accumulated depreciation
N
NA—BZ&ER At 1st September 2020 432,570 165,888 - 198,835 564 797,857
EEMA (fista) Depreciation (Note a) 63,812 18,418 - 27,655 235 110,120
HE /s Disposal/write-off - 27) - 6,811) - (6,838)
BE 2 2L Exchange adjustment 32 . = 113 = 145
KZZT—%F
INB=+—Bz
,\Dﬁﬁ— At 31st August 2021 496,414 184,279 - 219,792 799 901,284
/\)%E-f——Ei Net book value at
ZEREFE 31st August 2021 1,783,446 38,598 6,191 97,519 796 1,926,550
B sE Note
(a) FATEEASTAL
Depreciation for the year was charged against:
$'000
THRSZ Administrative expenditure 65,344
Hit g g Other activities 44,776
110,120
KIE2T—FN\A=+—B ZEHBEFROHNREFEARERZTAB T8 ERERESEENTHREBNNEEER

As at 31st August 2021, Kwai Hing Learning Centre amounting to the net book value of $529,700,000 has been pledged
to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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8. HEA,HEE Intangible assets

REMZIREFE  Net book value as at beginning of the financial year
FREH Amortisation for the year
FRERZEREFE  Net book value as at end of the financial year

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BK=E== i
JNB=+—H JNB=1+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

- 46
= (46)

BELEEORANEREEZAMZBANAIREETERNRE AR 2 BEMA-
The intangible assets represent the cost of human resources management system acquired and direct attributable costs incurred.

9. F2AF Subsidiaries

RFRBEIZKE Investment in subsidiaries
JELEMRRD - #ALZAE  Unlisted shares, at cost
REBFRNBE)ZFHBUT:

Details of the University’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Gk bt =
NB=+—H JNA=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

9,000 9,000

N B R EFEFRTEM
NEILIE Place of incorporation ~ FEX7 FR{FAGHE
Name and operation Principal activities Interest held
%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ (FED) BRA EHHE ZEREE 100%
(KZZ2—FhBZ EHU%%% \FIAZ  Hong Kong Investment holding (E13#%5 direct holding)
(hE) BRAF)
Hong Kong Metropolitan University (China)
Limited (known as The Open University
of Hong Kong (China) Limited before
2nd September 2021)
#HARER CRYI) BRAR FREANRIENE RMEERERT 100%
(KRB —E+—RB -t/ BrAAK The People’s Republic Provision of (RI$:44 indirect holding)
EIERERT GRIYI) BIEAR) of China consultancy
HKMU Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited services
(known as OUHK Consultants (Shenzhen)
Limited before 26th November 2021)
HAIEABEPLERA 5 MIRAFTEF L 100%
(OAYS; Qi S— Sy \E_HLEI) Hong Kong Physiotherapy (E##%%E direct holding)
HKMU Physiotherapy Centre Limited Centre

(Incorporated on 29th June 2022)



nv'.F

10.

B HRRMIGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F2F (4) Subsidiaries (continued)

AR

Name

KRB R EEFEFRTEH
Place of incorporation
and operation

FEEE

Principal activities

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

FRishziE

Interest held

A IS RN ERERAR

(RIIKZZ2Z"F/\BAB)
HKMU Research Development and

Consultancy Limited

(Incorporated on 9th August 2022)

BEHERERREERAT

(R —Z-——%Fh/A—H)
Hong Kong Metropolitan University

Alumni Association Limited

(Incorporated on 1st September 2022)

R T A5 Financial instruments by category

ﬁﬂﬁé

ma

BIE R R A EE

BUHNERMEE

BEEmR M ATE
B EERMEE
(F$5¥14)

TREE BEENE

WEHER AN SRR E
(PMF5E13)

FEELEER (Mi5E11)

FEUTBRR ~ ELthFEUS AR R

K¥e (Mizk12)

REEEBBE=ESZ
ﬁﬁfm&ﬁi&ﬁ%
=&Y (M95x15)

B RMMAFERERMRY  100%
Hong Kong Provision of research (E#%¥EE direct holding)
and consultancy
services
EHHE RERRS 100%
Hong Kong Alumni Association (E#Z¥EE direct holding)
S et RZT
J\B=+—H JANB=1+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $°000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
- Designated financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
(Note 14) 1,949,689 2,243,530
1,949,689 2,243,530
Financial assets at amortised cost
- Financial investments at amortised cost
(Note 13) 20,749 99,723
- Student loan receivables (Note 11) 64,703 50,860
- Accounts receivable, other receivables
and deposits (Note 12) 83,973 251,372
- Bank deposits with original maturities
over three months and cash and cash
equivalents (Note 15) 2,648,309 1,827,834
2,817,734 2,229,789
4,767,423 4,473,319
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

10. £RTH4% % (8) Financial instruments by category (continued)

1.

AN

Financial liabilities

IR A EMSRIBME  Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

- BARRMESTER - Accounts payable and accrued
(FsE17) expenses (Note 17)
- BINEIRRER - Government loans, secured
(FftEE20) (Note 20)

- HE&E (MiE21)

- Lease liabilities (Note 21)

FEW £ B3 Student loan receivables

RS E B R
B RE R R

RERZ &R PIAEZ

Student loan receivables
Less: Provision for impairment

RAEERME maximum exposure to credit risk
HER: Represented by:
—FRNEBEZSEE Repayable within one year
—FREIECSEE Repayable after one year
ERELEER AN FERERAEEMEN REENIBEL LB E-

Balance as at end of the financial year,

St = KRB —F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000
242,001 172,327
453,700 464,013
116,327 7,768
812,028 644,108
bt KB —&F
INB=+—H J\B=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000
64,716 50,903
(13) (43)
64,703 50,860
6,185 7,331
58,518 43,529
64,703 50,860

The fair values of student loan receivables approximate their carrying values for both financial years and are denominated

in Hong Kong dollars.
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1. FEWEBEEFH (48) Studentloan receivables (continued)

REER BERRBTRAEZBRBEER ZREDITWT:

The ageing analysis for the student loan receivables that are past due but not impaired as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

gt KT —4
INB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000

BEEHE Past due by:
BE—FR Within 1 year 17 1
B —FECFR More than 1 year and up to 2 years o 6
R _FE=FR More than 2 years and up to 3 years S 2
BER=FL More than 3 years 13 26

AEBRASBVBRSENEIRAFTEAZBI AL ERREESHE HEMERKRELEERIRALABHEESE
B o

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all student loan receivables.

N2 ZHF)N\A=+—H BREBEEFHPHN—8=Frx CE—F WE=F) BLTRRE TE2BIEL RESIBER-
At 31st August 2022, student loan receivables of $13,000 (2021: $43,000) were impaired and full provision has been
made accordingly.

R BEERRERBERNEHNT:

Movements on the provision for impairment of student loan receivables are as follows:

BRZEZZHF RIE——F

I\B=+—H J\NB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$°000 $000

REZ iEeR Balance as at beginning of the financial year 43 -
BERIEEER > BT Provision for impairment, included in

B EENZ Y expenses under other activities 13 43

FERMERAIAR R Z F/IE  Written off during the year as uncollectible (43) _

RERZ Balance as at end of the financial year 13 43

SR RERBRBLEERFBEAERREER-

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for the student loan receivables.
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12. FEURARSR Hth EUIRFR TR IA R &

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits

B F i
JNB=+—H JNB=+—8H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $000
FEUWBRFR Accounts receivable 1,480 1,235
HAEWER =R Other receivables 57,632 227,982
& Deposits 24,861 22,155
FA#EZ RAEERE Maximum exposure to credit risk 83,973 251,372
FEfIFRIE Prepayments 59,388 38,254
143,361 289,626

FEURBRFN ~ Eth AR R FAI B R IZ 2N A EEEREEEMER BRFEERERE BB E.

The fair values of accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits approximate their carrying values for
both financial years and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

FEERASBMBREENFEIORAFTFER B H ETERREERE EHBIGRFIA L REREEHEEE
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss
allowance for accounts receivable.
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12. FEURARSR Hth EURRR TR RIE R E (48)

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits (continued)

NEBEZ AMEBIRRRZEABEERR - REBVHREELFIOR AEREN  BHEMEEMBURR RIZEHXA
T ARz TEIEERIERE -

The Group’s other receivables and deposits are considered to have low credit risk. Under HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss
model, the Group measures expected credit losses which use a 12-month expected loss allowance for all other receivables
and deposits.

RIZZ2ZZHF/)N\B=1+—8B TIRUERF R At E R R EA EE I KA E - ZERUIRFR B LB B R A2 828981
AR NP o ZE RN Z IRE DT

At 31st August 2022, the following accounts and other receivables were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent customers and students for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
receivables is as follows:

G = —=
J\B=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

=y Past due by:
BV —EEE=EA Less than 1 month and up to 3 months 3,632 5,280
‘A= EA=EMER More than 3 months and up to 6 months 7 29
AHpBENEA More than 6 months 514 413
4,153 5,722

HAadER W EBERS  EMEYRT BN REM RS U S EREEE - SEL BISEEAEFREER
The other classes within accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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13. sl R A BY £ REIZ B Financial investments at amortised cost

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

B=EZZ K%

NB=+—H JAB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$’000 $'000

NEMES Corporate bonds 20,749 99,723
—FANEIHREE Current portion 3,840 6,643
JE—ERZHAZE Non-current portion 16,909 93,080
20,749 99,723

14.

RIEZZF)\A=*+—H FRBZ#iEm AN ENEREER TS t+E8 AT (22—
=F70) o W SH A AR E RS 185 AR © I S A SR I & 1 SR A HASK R (E ©

At 31st August 2022, the carrying value of non-current financial investments at amortised cost was $20,749,000
(2021: $99,723,000) and stated at the amortised cost less impairment loss. The financial investments at amortised cost
are not past due or impaired.

FATAEET=E

BREGRRBATEESLHNREETHEERTESHEAE

Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments

QS = KB
JNB=+—H JNBZ=+—8H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $000

JELEMEE BAFE Unlisted investments, at fair value
BEE5tEE Unit trusts 859,145 1,088,216
EEW =& Fixed income funds 955,467 1,138,634
B Bonds 76,045 -
B2 TR Deposits at financial institutions 57,373 16,332

mEEMEE Derivative financial instruments

SNEIZEAE A Foreign exchange forward contracts 1,251 -
EHRE B ATE Listed equity securities, at fair value 408 348
FraiEZ RAE S AR Maximum exposure to credit risk 1,949,689 2,243,530

BENATEERREBEATEETHHNEREMERE

The fair value of all securities is based on their current bid prices in an active market.

BEEEARMATEESCHNREETMEEZATEBZEE M EREEWRATFALS W ERA -
Changes in fair value of designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, interest and investment income are
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED —
FI NANCIAL STATEM ENTS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

14. BRABETRREATEESCNBEEEMNEERTESMEE (B)
Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments
(continued)

BEEARRMATEESNEEEMEEUTIEEE:
The designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments are denominated in
the following currencies:

kSt g —

J\NB=+—H NA=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$°000 $'000

ETT United States dollars 1,530,238 1,653,855
BT Hong Kong dollars 393,453 558,445
Hith g Other currencies 25,998 36,230
1,949,689 2,243,530

15. REMAABAB=ZMEAZRITERRRERREEEY

Bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents

BZEZZ oS

J\B=+—H JNB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$°000 $'000

RITEFERNFEIRES Cash at banks and in hand 464,371 215,935

EERIRTTERR Short-term bank deposits 1,593,162 1,222,481

RENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,057,533 1,438,416
FRfRBE=EE = Bank deposits with original maturities

RITER over three months 590,776 389,418

2,648,309 1,827,834

FrEEr B RKEERR Maximum exposure to credit risk 2,647,936 1,827,544

REEREBE =ER 2 RITEFRNMRELIREZFEBYHNRABEEURAEE.
The carrying values of bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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LBTEE

FI NANCIAL STATEM ENTS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

16. FAULBREUWNE Fee income receipt in advance

BZEZ= A -

JN\B=+—H JANB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$’000 $'000

FAWR B E Fee income receipt in advance 615,794 592,283

TR FBEFECEIEFVANS BN ERENRA TR

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised in the current reporting year relates to fee receipt in

advance at the beginning of the year.

BZEZZ ST —F
JNB=+—H JNB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000
BEEEYAEKREE Revenue recognised that was included in
W B BRRE I IR fee receipt in advance at the beginning
B A &8 of the financial year 592,283 493,345

TREFRAMARS —FHRIU LN GNP RTHNENEFHI !

The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected

duration of one year or more:

j gt S oS

J\B=+—H NB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$°000 $000

FESHE L —ERRER Expected to be recognised within one year 615,794 592,283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED —
FI NANCIAL STATEM ENTS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

17. FE(IBRFR-FEI & R B 3%fE Accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions

St = KB —F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $000
FE(TBRFR Accounts payable 121,369 64,913
fEst & A Accrued expenses 120,632 107,414
TREE Financial liabilities 242,001 172,327
B Provisions 36,292 35,994
278,293 208,321

MR BT B A REBEN A TEREREETWEMBEENGEE > T FELUBESE-

The fair values of accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions approximate their carrying values for both financial
years and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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18. JEIEYr:E Deferred income

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

WERHIEM
BFER #BhERE Matched Hith#58h
Government Grant and donations- Other 48%E
loan, secured sponsorship Specific  donations Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
A B EFE Balance as at
NB—BZ 4% 1st September 2020 71,457 26,909 168,618 10,904 277,888
FRBW R Amounts received and
FEUS FRERA receivable during the yearA 1,586 37,403 18,891 77,405 135,285
ERIREE AR Transferred to deferred
He# capital fund# (7,408) 6,127) (49,980) (41,402)  (104,917)
EEMESHERZ Amounts utilised for
&35 other activities (2,848) (32,239) (20,549) (16,631)  (72,267)
I Balance as at
INB=+—Hz&H 31st August 2021 62,787 25,946 116,980 30,276 235,989
N BT —F Balance as at
NB—BZ 4 1st September 2021 62,787 25,946 116,980 30,276 235,989
FERBUW A Amounts received and
e FRERN receivable during the year” - 42,283 26,801 25,137 94,221
ERIRIEEA Transferred to deferred
e capital fund# - (88) (32,906) (15,590)  (48,584)
FHEMEESPHERES Amounts utilised for
BEA other activities 10,313 (81,553) (21,958) (12,775) (65,973)
Q=S Balance as at
INB=+—Az &5 31st August 2022 73,100 36,588 88,917 27,048 225,653

2021 - 2022 B4#%#RE FINANCIAL REPORT

o
»
H

NEREREEREESAE G ESERAREBHER TSR e AR EEEREHRESR] Z—:Fﬁﬁt—i—/\% —FT
(ZE2T—F mIFREEZEARBATR) - URRIARERREN TSTEAM) HEFRLZAB—+Et& LT (Z2T—%F:
NERT-EBATFT) °
This includes the donation received and receivable from The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust to finance the construction
of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare of $15,782,000 (2021: $45,069,000), and fund the STEAM Centre with an open
resources environment of $6,177,000 (2021: $6,529,000).

RIENBERNREYR BB NREFEIERLCELES -

Thls represents the transfer to deferred capital fund for the purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment.
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19. HIESMEIRME Gratuities provision

RERZ 55k
BT
SAEER
MERZ MR

RER:
—FRENZEER
—FREMZEE

BRETHE2REES

SIERME - BHEMESBENR

Balance as at beginning of the financial year
Provision

Payments

Balance as at end of the financial year

Represented by:
Payable within one year

Payable after one year

Hﬁtﬁiﬁiﬂ%%ﬂ%?b{ﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%%% » AE LIRS M AEE ) -

Provision was made with reference to the terms stated in employees’ contracts. The fair value of gratuities provision
approximates to its carrying amount for both financial years. No discounting to non-current portion of gratuities provision is

made as the discounting effect is insignificant.

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BZEZ= A -
NB=+—H JNB=+—8
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

44,063 42,782
42,863 43,563
(38,124) (42,282)
48,802 44,063
32,300 24,569
16,502 19,494
48,802 44,063

//////

Pal k2
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

20. BRI ER ULFEETIER Government loans, secured, at fair value

j gt S KB4
J\B=+—H J\B=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$'000 $000
BREEEENR Government loans, secured,
MR EESIR at fair value 453,700 464,013
BRNERNEREBERNT:
The government’s loans are repayable as follows:
K== KT
J\B=+—H JNB=1+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $°000
—FRN Within one year = -
TE_ER In the second year 29,872 30,611
TE=ZEFRER In the third to fifth years 122,625 162,818
FREMUE After the fifth year 301,203 270,584
453,700 464,013

BNEREZEAFITHERBNU R EER A S TERE RS - BEREREZERFAEINERE EEHGAEESFS
REREIRE T MIRHEMEE (LUBEEE) » LLEEHBEROMEREF - ZEREBNRE —AZINE »+EFHHIE -
The government loans are interest-free loans from the HKSAR Government to the Group for the development of the Campus
Phase Il, Jockey Club Campus project and the construction of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare and are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. They are secured by Kwai Hing Learning Centre, and are repayable in equal annual
installments over a period of ten years after the final draw-down of the loan.

RIB—N/ ZEBRZE— /| Z 2B &EEITHREBNEEF SR ESRIENTE HREREMEE BT
AREB—AGEREBEEBHEERSHRMNE.

In financial period 2019/20 and 2021/22, in view of the development of COVID-19 epidemic, the HKSAR Government has
granted a one-off interest-free deferral of loan repayment for a period of four years in total to alleviate the financial pressure
to repay the outstanding loans under the Start-up Loan Scheme.
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

fHE Leases

SEHANEFFERERLZE - GakB2d B - HEFHNENER EPEOESBIRGARKY - 2EHEY
BIEIERHKRIHENEERE MAS S RoTEEEMIFAEREBEATE - K2 _F/)\A=+—H  ERHABEEER
BERENHEERRRBEEAEA—RBRZTHESETC

The Group has leased buildings mainly for office premises, warehouses and student hostels. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Extension and termination options are included in
a number of leases, the majority of which are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors. At 31st August 2022,
the future cash outflows for lease not yet commenced but committed by the Group amounted to $124.0 million.

(a) EiEE B EABREDAFIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

(i) { B# & E Right-of-use assets

Tt fE R
(MEE(1))
#2Y)  Land use rights 4a%E
Buildings (Note (1)) Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
RIE2TZ2F Net book value at
NBE—HNEEFE 1st September 2020 15,830 4,911 20,741
FRITE Depreciation for the year (8,227) (196) (8,423)
PE R Exchange adjustment - 320 320
R —F Net book value
JI\NB=1+—B/NEEFE at 31st August 2021 7,603 5,035 12,638
HER Represented by:
[N Cost 26,507 5,541 32,048
FHiTE Accumulated depreciation (18,904) (506) (19,410)
7,603 5,035 12,638
KT & Net book value at
NBA—HEEFE 1st September 2021 7,603 5,035 12,638
0 Additions 119,714 - 119,714
FRITE Depreciation for the year (13,507) (199) (13,706)
BE B FHEE Exchange adjustment - (282) (282)
=S = Net book value
NB=+—AmERERE at 31st August 2022 113,810 4554 118.364
EER: Represented by:
(%N Cost 146,221 5,259 151,480
RETE Accumulated depreciation (32,411) (705) (33,116)
113,810 4,554 118,364
H33E Note:
() K22 ZH/)N\B=1+—8  FYEAUNFEN T MEREN A FEEA=TEZ 8 (CET—F  =FEE/\+1E8

) BREESTREATAET (TE T

FITTN\EBEZT/\BT)

é#@%ziﬂt@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

—— —

NG —

FNA=1—A

NEEE - MFEEEER—BBUFXENGELAR —XMITTEEREBRAR U ARTHREEFAREMETHE-

The fair value of land use right in the PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2022 was $32,020,000 (2021: $34,840,000),

representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on an open
market value basis. Out of $32,020,000 (2021: $34,840,000), $25,990,000 (2021: $28,280,000) represents the fair value of

the land portion of the investment properties as at 31st August 2022.
EE I T FR B EREYNFERAR S " F/)N\B=+—H22

NP ERFHI I EEG ©

Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2022 of the building portion of the investment properties erected on this piece
of land are disclosed in note 6.
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21.

fAE (%) Leases (continued)

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

(a) EEHEEBEEABRERNFIE (&) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)

(i) FHE &1& Lease liabilities

HEEaENaNEHE RN T:
Contractual maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:

ANRE
1-25 2-5%F mEAAEE
14y  Between  Between Total IREEE
Within 1and 2 2and 5 contractual Carrying
1 year years years cash flows amount
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
KRIE-_F
J\B=+—H At 31st August 2022 20,791 31,685 71,568 124,044 116,327
A IEmENEfy Less: Non-current portion (97,581)
STRENER Y Current portion 18,746
(b) E4E W FRERAIFRIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
FElWZREIN ZHEMERMBENT:
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:
E-g—C HE—Z -
J\B=+—H JANB=+—H
IESFE FFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$°000 $000
FREEEZITEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 13,706 8,423
7% E Finance costs 852 454
B AR Exchange adjustment
(BEHE—RREEZA) (included in General Expenses) 282 (320)

BE_Z__HF)\A=+—HLEFEAEReERLBEEA—T B8 (T2
Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31st August 2022 was $11.9 million (2021: $8.8 million).

—F)\B/\+87T) °
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22. REERE S Deferred capital fund

KEZ e Balance as at beginning of the financial year
ELEE W RIER Released to consolidated statement of

AL IN comprehensive income*
BEERME H# Payments for capital expenditure#

PRERZ KRR

Balance as at end of the financial year

CHTECCER BREERTEECH\EATE (C

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BR-E—— RE_—F
J\B=+—H J\A=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $°000

646,174 576,560

(45,286) (35,303)

48,584 104,917

649,472 646,174

—F =ThAB=TB=Tm) HE-

In financial year 2022, this includes $45,286,000 (2021: $35,303,000) depreciation.

HEZRECEREE O RS E MBS
tF) e

This represents the transfer from deferred income of $48,584,000 (2021: $104,917,000) for the purchase or construction of

property, plant and equipment.

23. RIEIRIEE (& Deferred tax liability

EERIREE
(BBE+-ER%RX=N)

Deferred tax liability
(To be recovered after more than 12 months)

PFIEREBEAEREFRARDIKZREBERFIEL - FREFHWT:

SERREEREEANOT/\BEH\BOTT (CT2—F —REOEA+—8

S A -
J\B=+—H J\B=1+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $000

9,546 8,088

The deferred tax liability arises from the undistributed retained earnings of a subsidiary and its movement during the

financial year is as follows:

RENZ LR Balance as at beginning of the financial year
Charged to consolidated statement of

comprehensive income

EEGIR S RN
MERZ MR

Balance as at end of the financial year

AZEZC KRZE_——F
JNB=+—H J\A=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$°000 $°000

8,088 5,699

1,458 2,389

9,546 8,088
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24. {EA 7 Employment expenditure

241 BEHESHZEARASNT:

Employment expenditure analysis by nature is as follows:

e TENER Salaries, wages and allowances
RIRETEIR 2B EHRR Employer’s contribution to retirement schemes
BB EE Provision for gratuities

24.2 EEH A B Z 5

Remuneration of higher paid staff

SR ABZFMDBIERUTHER:
Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

HK$1,800,001 — HK$1,950,000
HK$1,950,001 - HK$2,100,000
HK$2,100,001 — HK$2,250,000
HK$2,250,001 — HK$2,400,000
HK$2,400,001 — HK$2,550,000
HK$2,550,001 — HK$2,700,000
HK$2,700,001 - HK$2,850,000
HK$2,850,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,150,000
HK$3,150,001 - HK$3,300,000
HK$3,300,001 — HK$3,450,000
HK$3,450,001 — HK$3,600,000
HK$3,750,001 - HK$3,900,000
HK$4,650,001 — HK$4,800,000
HK$4,800,001 — HK$4,950,000
HK$4,950,001 — HK$5,100,000
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,150,000

FEEHE BREIABASEIFLHZHR R 2R NS -

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

H#E—T—— BEZZ_—F
J\B=+—H NA=+—H
\ESFRE IHFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000

763,780 734,930

27,175 28,035

42,729 43,529

833,684 806,494
#E—T—— BHE_Z_—F
J\B=+—H J\NB=1+—H
i35 IEFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
AB N

Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals

6 6

7 12

10 4

1 4

2 2

1 1

2 2

2 2

1 -

1 1

1 -

- 1

1 -

1 -

- 1

- 1

1 -

37 37

Remuneration includes salaries, employer’s contnbuhons to retirement schemes, cash allowances and gratuity payments.



e ISR R MISE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. —f%BZ General expenses

BERX Academic expenditure

HERZ Academic expenses

ERRFE B Al K Temporary staff costs

TR SZ Administrative expenditure

BFEEE Building management

REHEER Operating lease expenses

HIEER Amortisation expenses

BEEF R B AL AR Temporary staff costs

MAERZ Office expenses

KB ERE Utilities

SEHHEE Publicity

Cp e YN E YY) Stores and equipment

BLEEEFEN Student admission, graduation and
EEE R activities expenses

EEEEENER Library books and materials

FENEXABER Legal and professional fees

BEEE&ER Project expenses

BEEE A Recruitment expenses

Hih&ER% Other operating expenses

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

gE—ZT—— BT —F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
IESEE LEFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$°000 $000
8,177 6,596

2,984 2,639

11,161 9,235
63,767 54,281

552 258

- 196

3,362 2,598

31,808 29,517
24,419 22,331
20,547 20,217

3,273 2,894

44,912 43,145
24,060 23,174

3,501 3,901

15,786 13,475

1,845 1,941

18,097 21,275
255,929 239,203
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26.

B R iEB & EBIAY H th;EEh Other activities funded by donations and grants

A

BREE
SREEA RS
- ESE W i
SNFRIBRR
BB
—RRECHIAM

HEYE  RE R
MZEx / (B51R)

53
TEER

RESREERNER

R
Hith

ATk R 4B &£ HEBHEY

Hith’ZBHRHA

Income

Donation released from

- Deferred capital fund

- Deferred income

Donations and benefactions
Matching grant

Matched donations - General

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Expenditure

Depreciation charge

Course development and projects
Scholarships and bursaries
Others

Results of other activities funded by

donations and grants

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BE—ZT—-—&F BT —F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
IEEE LEFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$°000 $000

45,286 35,303

55,973 72,267

934 7,480

22,817 23,086

- (1,000)

10 (62)

125,020 137,074
(54,842) (44,776)
(64,196) (67,701)
(23,526) (22,024)

5,632 (14,590)
(136,932) (149,091)
(11,912) (12,017)
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27.

fic 5} 4 Bh & B Bt # #87% Matching grants and matched donations

ANBZHESEPRRESKENED UREBHEERBYHERREY S BFINITHRERR R 22 =4/<A
RIURHMEEHE AT\ F—RB—HE REEXNMARBFEIITHRBNFE S MBS sT3

The HKSAR Government established Matching Grant Scheme in June 2008 to help enhance the fundraising capacities of the
UGC-funded institutions and develop a stronger philanthropic culture in the community towards investment in education. Since
1st January 2008, the University has been included in the beneficiary list of the HKSAR Government’s Matching Grant Scheme.

RERENA FHRP -FRBERF RS PNEHRER BE xRS mS M EERZHINT:
Details of the University’s matched donations, matching grants awarded and the related expenditure of 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th
Matching Grant Scheme are as follows:

—hgfo ERH
B =R
EoEH @B = Matched Matched
Matching donations donations
grants - General - Specific
$'000 $'000 $'000
KIZ2TZFNB—HZ &R Balance as at 1st September 2020 119,085 10,288 153,064
W a Income

FEREER T® Interest and investment income 1,280 432 1,989
1,280 432 1,989

sz Expenditure
EAMIER Capital projects - - (59,725)
RBENHEIE Scholarships and prizes (140) - (1,663)
BhEE Bursaries - - (310)
SR Academic development (596) - (2,268)
Hith Others (28) (5,610) (514)
(764) (5,610) (64,480)
BRAEEETS Transfer of balance = (1,000) 1,000
R —E)\B=+—HZ 48R Balance as at 31st August 2021 119,601 4,110 91,573
K2 —FNA—HZ&ERR Balance as at 1st September 2021 119,601 4,110 91,573

W a Income

FMEMEEEIE Interest and investment loss (135) (607) (1,337)
(135) (607) (1,337)

Fx Expenditure
BEARM%IEH Capital projects - - (33,075)
1EEB L R HE TR Scholarships and prizes (200) - (2,282)
BEE Bursaries - - (278)
SR Academic development (724) (22) (1,692)
Hith Others (18) - (629)
(942) ©2) (37,956)
RIS —F)\B=1+—HZ#&% Balance as at 31st August 2022 118,524 3,481 52,280
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28. E 2% iRk SRR HAMERAEHIER
Matching grants and matched donations for Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for
Post-secondary Students

AREHERENES & LBRE NSRBI MBI A FHE LK E - FAILLWSE AR FrEERRY
S ERBERNZ HE ST BZFEHET I - T REEE S ERNBI Hic i mBhE M E M im M=

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds the grant, matching grants and related donations of
Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for Post-secondary Students, have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this
note, all expenditure funded by matching grants and related donations are recognized in the year of expenditure incurred.
The eligible donations, the corresponding matching grants and the related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

BB = —RefoEIamR
Matching Matched
grants donations
$000 $000
RIZETEFHAB—BZiERR Balance as at 1st September 2020 - 7,049
W s Income

FMEMREEW S Interest and investment income - 270
- 270

sz Expenditure
$EEAS Ty TR Scholarships and prizes - (134)
BEs Bursaries - (10)
Hith Others - (4,300)
- (4,444)
RIET—F/)\B=1+—HZ4&#  Balance as at 31st August 2021 - 2,875
N_E_—FNB—RHZER Balance as at 1st September 2021 - 2,875

& Income

FE R EW = Interest and investment income - (356)
- (356)

Bz Expenditure
HEER S N HETE Scholarships and prizes = (128)
BhZEe Bursaries - (20)
- (143)
AT _F/)\A=+—HZ#ER  Balance as at 31st August 2022 - 2,376
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20. EEBEBIHTRABR —F—8B ELBEBIIZRAD

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students and Scheme for Subsidy on

Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students

AU CHBRBREGN  BELEEBINORFEIR I—F—K) ELBEEH
PREERENENTHIIRAESHRFLEGEHE T HESEEM W am kX

stEIAIFHBIIINER - BRI E RS

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students
and Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received and the payments
have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is recognized in the
year of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

RZEZZFNA—HZ R
e zk

BT

F B

|3 [—H—i%) B ES5EEI
TRABEEE

RIET—F/)\B=1+—R2&&%

N_E—FNA—BZHER
Yz

B

A B

i<

REIBK AT BRER

Balance as at 1st September 2020
Income

Subsidy received

Interest income

Transfer to Scheme for Means-
tested Subsidy on Exchange
to "Belt and Road" Regions for
Post-secondary Students

Balance as at 31st August 2021

Balance as at 1st September 2021
Income

Subsidy received

Interest income

Expenditure

Refund of unspent funding to
HKSAR Government

AZE""HF)\B=1+—HZ4# Balance as at 31st August 2022

g 8485
3ZimEt8]  Subsidy on Exchange

Subsidy on Exchange
for Post-secondary
Students secondary Students

r—&—it SL84%E

ShzimEtE

to “Belt and Road”
Regions for Post-

$°000 $'000

1,609 1

1,933 -
1 -

1,934 -

3,543 -

3,643 -

2,813 -

2,822 -

(2,101) -

(2,101) -

4,264 -
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

30. ERZEcE##Bh £ 5128 Research Matching Grant Scheme

RARERBYEEPZETRNENS HAREEHEHEALEIRB - FRALUNERR MEERLHMmHER
MR BT HZF 2 HEH T BRASE S ERNEI HEHHBE Bz m kX

In compliance with the requirements of University Grants Committee which funds the grant, matching grants and related
donations of Research Matching Grant Scheme, have to be separately disclosed. Forthe purpose of this note, all expenditure
funded by matching grants and related donations are recognized in the year of expenditure incurred. The eligible donations,
the corresponding matching grants and the related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

BB & —REFo ¥ ek
Matching Matched
grants donations
$:000 $000
RIZETEFHAB—BZiERR Balance as at 1st September 2020 8,746 9,304
Hﬂl%ﬁ Income
18R/ HRsEahE / Donations/Research Grants/
=] Research Contracts Received 23,086 15,600
ME R E =S Interest and investment income 84 48
23,170 15,648
H Expenditure
BgTIEE Research Projects (479 (14,537)
i Research Equipment - (227)
BARITEE) Research Activities for Students - (40)
(479) (14,804)
BB —&/)\B=+—HZ#% Balance as at 31st August 2021 31,437 10,148
R_E_—FHB—HZE Balance as at 1st September 2021 31,437 10,148
W s Income
BN/ thsewEihE / Donations/Research Grants/
HESH Research Contracts Received 22,817 28,443
MEMEEW S Interest and investment income 297 51
23,114 28,494
552 Expenditure
msEIERE Research Projects (4,083) (28,414)
T Research Equipment (228) (1,200)
BARRIEE Research Activities for Students - (40)
Hith Others - (300)
(4,311) (29,954)
R_E” —F)\B=+—HZ#8E Balance as at 31st August 2022 50,240 8,688
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31.

—%— R ELBEBIZIRABEEHD
Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for
Post-secondary Students

AREHEREREG —F—K ELEL BRI AAREE AR BFEBEIIRE - FALNERR FIEEREH
TN HEE TSI EZF LY - THRMEEERR 2w R
In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on Exchange
to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received and the payments have to be separately
disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is recognized in the year of expenditure
incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

$000
KRIETEFHAB—BZiERR Balance as at 1st September 2020 720
W s Income
=tuka Subsidy received 1,340
gy %K F L2485 Transfer from Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange to
ZometEl “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students 1
1,341
K-Z——F/)\B=1+—HZ4 Balance as at 31st August 2021 2,061
KRIET—FNB—HZ &R Balance as at 1st September 2021 2,061
W e Income
HihE Subsidy received 882
F Bz Interest income 3
885
Bz Expenditure
BrEme Subsidy to students 62)
SR[OIBUFT 2 BREE Refund of unspent funding to HKSAR Government (1,151)
(1,213)
WNZIZBZZF/)\B=+—HZ#8 Balance as at 31st August 2022 1,733
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32. EEBEMBRRE —F B BIMXRRABEEH®E
Non-means-tested Subsidies for Post-secondary Students to Participate in Exchange
Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road Regions

RTEHERBERGG EL2FtBREL %K) BINNARAREEH B AFLHEIRE - FRILLMERAR
FFEERENENZEN eI HZFLHHE -NIBHEaERR s m Rz

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Non-means-tested Subsidy for
Post-secondary Students to Participate in Exchange Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road Regions, the funding
received and the payments have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the
subsidies is recognized in the year of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

r—&%—E8
5 85 AithEREs B EBEBINR
GABREEHE GABEEHE
Non-means- Non-means-tested
tested Mainland Subsidy on Exchange
Experience Scheme to “Belt and Road”
for Post-secondary Regions for Post-
Students secondary Students
$'000 $000
N_E_TFNB—HZ &R Balance as at 1st September 2020 825 216
W e Income
s Subsidy received 203 884
203 884
N_E"—%F/)\B=+—HZ#45E Balance as at 31st August 2021 1,028 1,100
KB —FhA—HZ#EER Balance as at 1st September 2021 1,028 1,100
& Income
HEihE Subsidy received 198 491
2 = Interest income 1 2
199 493
s Expenditure
B4 EhE Subsidy to students - (43)
Refund of unspent funding to
SR[CIEAT ~ BREE HKSAR Government (825) (594)
(825) (637)
N_E""F/)\B=+—HZ4# Balance as at 31st August 2022 402 956
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LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

PR B RIGEYEE Net interest and investment income

HE-ES—— BT —&F
NB=+—H JANB=+—H
LEFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000
RABITHERZH B = Interest income from bank deposits 13,851 7,006
ERBRRRMATER
NEmEEZRFE Fair value (loss)/gains and investment
(B538) /| BRI R E (loss)/income on financial assets at
(E518) / Wz $%8 fair value through profit or loss (283,138) 239,346
(269,287) 246,352
34. Fr8#MEIZ Income tax expense
EEI75\i(MEW%}%&E‘“W%%88{P‘?¥’E‘ MERR MPEMAERNZWAKRBBINEEMABEAFNER (2 —F:

7T) 0 A KRBRFEEHAIGBRGZEBHE
%i‘%?ﬁ&i’m (PE) ZRITMEFAE - ARSI TINFRIA SR T:

S FRINBAREGZzBARE SERBRFENGERRETN > KT

No Hong Kong profits tax is provided for the University and MU-China as the University is exempted from taxation pursuant
to Section 88 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance and MU-China is not subject to the profits tax as it derives the income from
offshore activities for the financial year (2021: Nil). Taxation on profits generated by MU-Shenzhen has been calculated on

the estimated assessable profit for the financial year at the rate of taxation prevailing in the PRC in which it operates.

The amount of income tax expense charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

gE—T—— BHEZZ”"—F
NB=+—H NB=+—AH
IEEFRE IFFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$°000 $000

EHIRIE Current taxation
HEANER Hong Kong profits tax = -
R (2 PR PRC enterprise income tax 6,818 6,653
6,818 6,653
IRIEFR TE Deferred taxation 1,458 2,390
8,276 9,043
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34. FRiS#HBEIZ (48) Income tax expense (continued)

EEIRFRNATER NI BIRAABRMZINEKE

HHERm SR AERW T

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

The taxation on the Group’s surplus before income tax differs from the theoretical amounts that would arise using the taxation

rate of the home country of the University as follows:

FRIG BB BR

BREBAM 216.5%
(ZBZ—:116.5%) =X
AEBHNEERT

HERBERB PS8
ERERE KSR
Zﬂ'ﬁ“?/ =

ARz EEBFARZ
&5H

FAFEEN (AE) R
WﬂﬁXM%%
DR RRERI

%ﬁ?;

SRR

Surplus before income tax

Notional tax calculated at the rate of the
home country of the University at 16.5%

(2021:16.5%)

Tax effect on surplus of the University
which is exempted from taxation
pursuant to Section 88 of the Inland

Revenue Ordinance

Expenses incurred in Hong Kong
subsidiaries not tax deductible

Effect of different taxation rate in the
PRC in which a subsidiary carries out

business operations

Temporary difference on undistributed
retained earnings from a subsidiary

Income tax expense

gE—ZT—— BE_Z-_—&F
J\B=+—H J\A=+—H
ILEE IFFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

228,373 657,594

37,681 108,503

(33,159) (104,113)

34 4

2,262 2,260

1,458 2,389

8,276 9,043
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35.1

A {IFIE Commitments
K& % RE(IFIE Campus development commitments

(EECF)\A=+—H SEHEFERE - EENEAREESRERIES R ERRIEE R EMAMRIBN
As at 31st August 2022, the Group had commitments for the development of the Jockey Club Campus, the HKMU Jockey
Club Institute of Healthcare and related facilities as follows:

HZEZZH -

NB=+—H J\NB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$’000 $'000

BEENERER Contracted but not provided for 2,421 64,179

35.2 H{thik{dEkIE Other commitments

(a) IRBEABEEBREHITHEBUNERN BEGR MR AL IEWE > KB REPITER T BT 854 B AT U [E] ©
Under the terms in the agreement with the HKSAR Government, the leasehold land on which the University’s campus is

erected may be repossessed should the University terminate as an educational institution.

(b) KB EBFHA ABREETARBNNEBSMRBIISAN LB EMEAE (BB) LARNSNAMALIES
&7\:1%17_5 °
The University entered into agreement in April 2020 with the Zhaoging Municipal Government and Zhaoging University to
jointly establish Hong Kong Metropolitan University (Zhaoging). The University has committed to contribute $300,000,000

for the project over the agreed period.

. (R ETHEEULTA £ FRIE Operating lease rental receivable

BE_Z__F/)\A=+—B SETEFAITHENCEHE THRRRERESUALLENT!
As at 31st August 2022, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating leases
as follows:

Q- et R —%F

J\B=+—H INB=+—H

At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021

$’000 $°000

B —E No later than one year 7,477 10,105
BiB—FEEB BRRE Later than one year and no later than five years 9,834 14,017
17,311 24,122
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37. IREFEEH Cash flow information

371 ¥3:Z8FRF 2R E Cash generated from operations

PRI BIERER Surplus before income tax
Bk Adjustments for:
MENRKERE / (W) Interest and investment loss/(income)
MEFE Interest on lease liability
FEWEAE S ZRE (BE) /  (Reversal of)/provision for impairment of
2 student loan receivables
FEUN 224 B FR I bR Written off of student loan receivable
FREBMEE ZRERBE (Reversal of)/provision for impairment of
(#3[0]) / 245 stock of course materials
HEY SN REN (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant
(®eR) / B8 and equipment
m A ERE Amortisation of intangible asset
EER Depreciation charge
FREEEZITEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
EEETEHR 2 RER Surplus before changes in working capital
REBEMEEFEZ D Decrease in stock of course materials

FEU RN ~ ELth AL BR R ~
ANREREEZ D /

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable,
other receivables, prepayments and

(3810) deposits
FEURE AW E 18 m Increase in fee income receipt in advance
SIEEBBIW A NRERZBEE  (Decrease)/increase in various donations

Z CRAY) /#8800
FETBR TN e & B X B 8

2300/ G
(KIS IRE

income receipts and utilisation, net

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and provisions

Cash generated from operations

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

HE—_E_-— EE T —F
J\B=+—H ANB=+—H
IEFE IHFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $°000
228,373 657,594

269,287 (246,352)

852 454

(30) 43

43 -

(132 55

(10) 62

- 46

127,038 113,648
13,706 8,423
639,127 533,973

49 92

148,807 (49,564)
23,513 98,937
(13,386) 33,588

77,490 (82,844)
875,600 534,182
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37. REREE

¥l (48) cash flow information (continued)

LBTEE

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

37.2 RERE;FB 2 & EEHIRR Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

BT BRI S Government loans, secured

TRER) 2 M ER

Balance as at beginning of the financial year

WENE T R S B Interest-free loan received from the Government
FMEIDERIRIEUEE  Interest element transferred to deferred income
FERFIE Interest for the year

RERZ HER Balance as at end of the financial year

38. FEAH#7 325 Related party transactions

38.1 ElF N\ FIM3Z 5 Transactions with subsidiaries

gE—ZT—— BHEZT——fF
J\B=+—H J\B=4+—H
\ESFRE IFFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $'000

464,013 440,943

- 14,400

- (1,586)

(10,313) 10,256
453,700 464,013

RERN » RBERYIEK ~ REEAK  BAYIEART O AR ERMEBNEBHLERERREET TUTERRS:

During the year, the following significant transactions with MU-Shenzhen, MU-China, HKMUPC, HKMU-RDC and HKMUAA

were undertaken by the University:

BT ABIFIE Amounts due from subsidiaries

R FABRIER R EFERE  BIEH - B2 AKX
SO&E ©

3 —— BHEZZ"—F
J\B=+—H JNB=+—H
\ESFRE IHFE

Year ended Year ended

31st August 2022 31st August 2021
$’000 $000

3,687 3,480

EREHEBE T LUBIESHENUR - BIRF ARRIERBBHRIEX

Amounts due from subsidiaries are related to business operations, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand and
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. There is no past due or default payment history to amounts due from subsidiaries.

B
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38. FAEES 35 (48) Related party transactions (continued)
38.2 X EEIE A B & Key management personnel compensation

SENFEERASRIEME BELEGHEENSBEH FERENSENSEEERAS HileuT:
The key management of the Group refers to those senior management having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group and their compensations are analysed as follows:

gE—ZT—-— BE_ZT_—F

J\B=+—H JINB=+—H

IEEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31st August 2022 31st August 2021

$’000 $°000

e N1 Salaries and allowances 51,812 51,911
R EHBRMFTEIAMI  Employer’s contribution to retirement schemes 361 397
Y EMNeRE Provision for gratuities 5,469 5,049
57,642 57,357
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39. XABEEARRREEEREHR

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University

39.1 K&& E&(EX Balance sheet of the University

K== S ZET—4F
J\B=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
$’000 $°000
JERENEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
KREYE Investment properties 129,444 132,614
FYERN - INEy Property, plant and equipment 1,913,273 1,925,809
B EE Intangible assets - _
EREESE Right-of-use assets 113,810 7,603
FREE Investments in subsidiaries 9,000 9,000
EREE S Student loan receivables 58,518 43,529
R IEA ARG & Financial investments at amortised cost 16,909 93,080
2,240,954 2,211,635
mEEE CURRENT ASSETS
FRBMES Stock of course materials 2,650 2,567
[ NGO Amounts due from subsidiaries 3,687 3,480
FEURBRRN - EfFEWARF~  Accounts receivable, other receivables,
YA EIE RIS prepayments and deposits 143,084 289,331
Fguﬂlf‘iﬁiféﬁ)\ Student loan receivables 6,185 7.331
BEEEREMATER- Designated financial assets at fair value
B EEREE through profit or loss 1,048,438 2243530
TEEMEE Derivative financial instruments 1,251 -
R IER AN SRS E Financial investments at amortised cost 3,840 6,643
REEBE=ER Bank deposits with original maturities over
RITER three months 521,471 344,995
R NIESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,028,372 1,400,255
4,658,978 4,298,132
mEaE CURRENT LIABILITIES
ERRENE Fee income receipt in advance 615,487 592,282
EIERRR et E RN Accounts payable, accrued expenses and
B provisions 277,709 207,660
IR 2 Deferred income 225,653 235,989
Y E NS B EREI D Current portion of gratuities provision 32,300 24,569
HEasEREE D Current portion of lease liabilities 18,746 7,531
1,169,895 1,068,031
mENEEPEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 3,489,083 3,230,101
- TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
ARERRIANR LIABILITIES 5,730,037 5,441,736
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Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

39. XBEFERRRRETEHREHR (B)

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University (continued)

39.1 KEEFEAER (&) Balance sheet of the University (continued)

St~ 3 K —F
INB=+—H JNB=+—H
N At 31st August 2022 At 31st August 2021
et $000 $000
Note
JERBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Y E MBS Gratuities provision 16,502 19,494
B EERER Government loans, secured 453,700 464,013
HEaE Lease liabilities 97,582 237
RIEEARES Deferred capital fund 649,472 646,174
1,217,256 1,129,918
FHELRE TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,512,781 4,311,818
HER REPRESENTED BY
EEEES FUNDS AND RESERVES 39.2 4,512,781 4,311,818

REGHR-_F-“F+-B—HZENLEEAER
Approved by the Council on 1st December 2022

EBRENSE
Mr Arnold CHENG Ka-kui

BlE RE
Treasurer President

MBI

Professor Paul LAM Kwan-sing

HERAE
Mr Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

FA 58 8

Director of Finance
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39. XBEFERRRRETEHREHR (B)

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University (continued)

39.2 KB E &4 ERE FR Statement of changes in fund balances of the University

EHES — e S
Specific General 4B%E
funds reserve Total
$°000 $'000 $°000
RIZ2TE2FHA—BZiERR Balance as at 1st September 2020 321,166 3,359,659 3,680,825
FRRER Surplus for the year 4,325 626,668 630,993
M_E"—F/)\B=+—HZ##  Balance as at 31st August 2021 325,491 3,986,327 4,311,818
RIE2T—FhAB—HZ4&R Balance as at 1st September 2021 325,491 3,986,327 4,311,818
FRA (BE) /| Bik (Deficit)/surplus for the year (41,836) 242,799 200,963
HEe 7853/ Reallocation of funds 17,395 (17,395) -
AZE-F)\B=+—HZ#BR  Balance as at 31st August 2022 301,050 4,211,731 4,512,781
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1. B4 T Student Statistics

() FHBEAH
- EFEERTZ
(GEBENE LHB2RE)
- ERRE
- MEB SR

(i) S2EEMENHR

GEEEN A L SHRE)

(i) 42 TS
(BERAE L H2RR)

2. B % Tuition Fee

() =2k (B&T)
- AL ER SR
-FIREBEEESR
- BBk
- BN R RS
2 CISEE e
- TR EEEESE
- 2B

(i) gRr2sEn (5850
B
B
ISR
Y
- B

(ii) S BE TS (5T)
- B
1
- EEERE
BESEEEs
RS aE)
- Rh 852!

(v) 8820 FHIEE (o)
- EFERI

(i) Average student headcount
- Credit Bearing Programmes

- Distance Learning Programmes
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)

- Face-to-face Programmes
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes'

(i) Total student credits
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)’

(iii) Average credit per student
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)’

(iy By school ($ million)
- School of A&SS
- Lee Shau Kee School of B&A
- School of S&T
- School of N&HS
- School of E&L
- LIPACE
- Total Tuition Fee

(i) By category ($ million)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes
- Face-to-face Programmes
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes
- Total Tuition Fee

(iiiy Average fee per student ($)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes'

- Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time
Equivalent only)’

- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes'

(iv) Average fee per credit ($)
- Distance Learning Programmes'

DATTEE
Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2021/22

Vs

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21
%

8,471 8,310 7,541 -9.3%
10,899 11,112 11,731 5.6%
33,234 33,999 29,372 -13.6%
178,205 186,210 170,667 -8.3%
21.0 22.4 22.6 1.0%
2021/22

Vs

2019/20? 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21
%

356.0 312.3 287.1 -8.1%
493.4 396.6 417.4 5.2%
178.2 155.8 256.8 64.8%
368.1 267.9 363.9 35.8%
150.5 1441 1389.2 -3.4%
163.8 165.7 159.2 -3.9%
1,710.0 1,442.4 1,623.6 12.6%
278.3 229.7 220.4 -4.1%
1,268.0 1,043.6 1,241.2 18.9%
168.7 169.1 162.0 -4.2%
1,710.0 1,442.4 1,628.6 12.6%
25,996 27,647 29,227 5.7%
92,459 93,287 99,338 6.5%
4,132 4,973 55185 10.9%
1,236 1,234 1,291 4.7%




= amisiE B
PE R FO R MAN C E I N D I CATO RS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. B& (8) Tuition Fee (continued)

BREBE 25 ()’
Tuition Fee Per Student ()’

100,000
90,000
80,000
70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
0
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
EIBERTE 25,996 27,647 29,227
Distance Learning Programmes
HEHFE U2 HF2LFREEE R %) 92,459 93,287 99,338
Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time Equivalent only)
MEBR DRI 4,132 4,973 5,815
Non-Credit Bearing Programmes
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3. B3 Expenditure

() SRBHHE
S aE
Rz (7T)

- BEEpE
- R
- KBRS

(i) B EBxRR (B&T)

(i) TR
- BERE
- miERE

(v) BB A BB E
- EmSERE
R LSRR
CBEHE

4. BB M7 Staff Cost

() 2RHEEAR
(FEHEEREERE)

(i) #HENAEZE (B8T) °
BHEANE
- A
- 2R
RERMBRHEHE
THAE
EREHES
HEES

(i) #A B FA EBH B
RANESE

(iv) B8 B A BB B DX

(i) Operating cost for full-time
equivalent student for credit
bearing programmes ($) '

- Direct Cost
- Indirect Cost
- Total Cost

(i) Result for Other Activities ($ million)

(iii) Average course population
- Distance Learning Programmes
- Face-to-face Programmes

(iv) % of operating costs to tuition fee
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes
- Total

(i) No of full-time staff
(exclude project staff)

(i) Total Payroll ($ million)?
Academic Staff
- Tutor
- Course Co-ordinators

Dean & School staff
Admin Staff
Temporary Staff
Total

(iii) % of academic staff costs to
total staff costs

(iv) % of staff costs to total expenditure

DATTEE
Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2021/22

Vs

2019/20? 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21
%

29,442 30,034 33,110 10.2%
31,867 31,261 34,610 10.7%
61,309 61,295 67,720 10.5%
(17.6) (12.0) (11.9) -0.8%
58.3 61.0 50.6 -17.0%
102.1 98.4 94.5 -4.0%
83.2% 71.0% 68.6% -3.4%
97.7% 75.0% 79.2% 5.6%
84.6% 71.5% 69.7% -2.6%
2021/22

Vs

2019/20? 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21
%

939.7 964.0 987.0 2.4%
50.0 42.6 42.8 0.5%
460.4 335.6 333.9 -0.5%
510.4 378.2 376.7 -0.4%
161.1 99.3 113.8 14.7%
412.9 262.5 270.1 2.9%
75.9 64.4 70.0 8.8%
1,160.3 804.4 830.6 3.3%
44.0% 47.0% 45.4% -3.5%
69.9% 65.5% 62.8% -4.0%




= amisiE B
PE R FO R MAN C E I N D I CATO RS Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

5.

Hfth Others

530.0

480.0

430.0

380.0

330.0

280.0

230.0

520.0

470.0

420.0

370.0

320.0

270.0

EEAFESANBARERDATZHRIER (BET)?

Group’s Net Result Before Interest and Investment Income for the Year ($ million)?

498.5

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

SBFESERE (8T
Group’s Operating Result for the Year ($ million)?

510.4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
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5.

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Hfth (4) Others (continued)

BB RITBERAEE D

Expenditure Allocation Between Academic and Administration

100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
1THESZ Administrative Expenses 41.3% 39.3% 38.9%
¥%5Fs2 Academic Expenses 58.7% 60.7% 61.1%
SRB2E2R% o)
Expenditure Per Student ($)
B
Credit Bearing Programmes'
70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
0
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
A A Indirect Cost 31,867 31,261 34,610
BHi#EpiZ< Direct Cost 29,442 30,034 33,110

=

Note

TENAEIETTHRERTFARAFELET  UEFHLER.
Annualised figures are used in 2019/20 for comparsion purpose.

B ECEC CFEOEAE/N\B=T—HLETTEANWA RS H;

TECRETERTFEAESE /AT —BHETTEANKAESZ
TR NEIZETHEGESEZZF)\A=t+—HIE+CERA BB A RS H -
2020/21 and 2021/22 cover 12-month period while the comparative figures in 2019/20 covers 17-month.

. FEINRE B S S BRI EAMES X

Total payroll includes both operating expenditure and expenditure in other activities.
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